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As a comprehensive energy-focused group, the Fuji 

O i l  G roup (the  G roup)  se ek s  to  fu l f i l l  i t s 

re sp ons ib i l i t i e s  a s  a  corp orate  c i t i zen  by 

contributing to the future affluence of society and 

the rea l izat ion of  a  safe and comfor tab le 

environment. Based on this mission, the Group 

provides a stable supply of energy products,  

which are indispensable to people’s daily lives and 

industrial activities.

Profile

This annual repor t contains forward- looking 
statements that reflect FOC and its consolidated 
subsidiaries’ forecast, targets, plans, and strategies. 
T h e s e  fo r ward - lo o k in g s t a te m e nt s  a re  no t 
guarantees of future performance and involve 
known and unknown risks, uncertainties, and various 
other factors that may cause FOC’s actual results, 
performance, achievements, or financial position to 
be materially different from any future results, 
performance, achievements, or financial position 
expressed or implied by these forward-looking 
statements.

Cautionary Statement with Respect to Forward-

Looking Statements
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Shareholder Information

Number of Shares Authorized: 200,000,000 shares
Number of Shares Issued: 78,183,677 shares
Number of Shareholders: 12,584

Principal Shareholders

Name Number of shares held
(thousands)

Percentage of total shares 
outstanding (%)

The Tokyo Electric Power Company, Incorporated 6,839.9 8.74

BBH for Fidelity Low-Priced Stock Fund 5,899.0 7.54

Kuwait Petroleum Corporation 5,811.3 7.43

Government of the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia 5,811.3 7.43

Showa Shell Sekiyu K. K. 5,144.0 6.57

Sumitomo Chemical Company, Limited 5,051.6 6.46

Japan Trustee Services Bank, Ltd. (Trust Account) 3,453.4 4.41

Nippon Yusen Kabushiki Kaisha 2,750.8 3.51

The Master Trust Bank of Japan, Ltd. (Trust Account) 1,712.5 2.19

JX Holdings, Inc. 1,350.0 1.72

Total 43,824.0 56.05

Composition of Shareholders by Type

Financial institutions
18.47% (14,439,000 shares)

Financial instruments business operators
2.27% (1,770,904 shares)

Other domestic companies
36.52% (28,554,680 shares)

International companies, etc.
29.62% (23,160,051 shares)

Individuals, treasury shares and other domestic investors
13.12% (10,259,042 shares)

Corporate Data

Trade Name Fuji Oil Company, Ltd.
Date of Establishment January 31, 2003
Head Office Tennozu Parkside Building

5-8, Higashishinagawa 2-chome,
Shinagawa-ku, Tokyo 140-0002, Japan
TEL: 81-3-5462-7761 FAX: 81-3-5462-7815

Paid-in Capital ¥24,467 million
Fiscal Year-End March 31
Employees Non-consolidated: 417

Consolidated: 643
Principal Business Import of crude oil, refining of oil and production, 

processing, storage, export and sales of petroleum products 
and petrochemical feedstock

Tennozu Parkside Building

Investor Information (As of March 31, 2014)



To Our Shareholders and Investors

The Sodegaura Refinery shut down all production operations 

between May and June 2013 to carry out its periodic maintenance 

involving the entire facility, which is performed once every  

four years. The average operating ratio of the refinery’s Crude 

Distillation Unit (CDU) was 98%, excluding the period of periodic 

maintenance.

At the end of 2012 the Fuji Oil Group decided to withdraw from 

upstream operations and since then we have undergone a group-

wide reorganization to focus mainly on downstream operations. 

We have also taken steps to strengthen our management system, 

and to achieve optimum allocation of management resources. In 

October 2013, AOC Holdings merged with the former Fuji Oil to 

form the new Fuji Oil Company. In November 2013, we 

announced a new medium-term business plan beginning in the 

fiscal year ending March 31, 2015 which positions refining as our 

core business. Meanwhile, in December 2013 we completed the 

sale of our final oil concession, completing our exit from 

upstream operations.

Domestic demand for petroleum products in the fiscal year ended 

March 31, 2014 fell by around 2% compared to the total for fuel 

oil in the previous fiscal year. Although hot summer weather 

caused an increase in demand, overall demand for gasoline fell 

compared to the previous fiscal year due to the increase of fuel-

efficient vehicles and other factors. Demand for kerosene also 

dropped compared to the previous fiscal year due to higher 

temperatures during the first half of the winter. Meanwhile, 

demand for gas oil increased compared to the previous fiscal year 

amid demand from the earthquake recovery effort and a boost in 

logistics activities from the improving economy, but demand for 

heavy fuel oil C dropped sharply compared to the previous fiscal 

year owing to the accelerating switch to coal and LNG as sources 

of fuel for power generation.

Given this business environment and its full-scale periodic 

maintenance, crude oil processing of the Sodegaura Refinery 

totaled 7.16 million kiloliters in the fiscal year ended March 31, 

2014, a decrease of about 1.10 million kiloliters from the previous 

fiscal year. The CDU had an average operating ratio of 86.3%, 

which marked a significant drop compared to 99.5% last year, but 

excluding the periodic maintenance period, the average operating 

ratio was 98%, similar to the high level seen last year. Product 

sales volume fell by about 1.00 million kiloliters year on year to 

7.66 million kiloliters due to the drop in production volume.

Given these conditions in production and sales, the Fuji Oil 

Group’s net sales fell ¥77 billion year on year to ¥702.9 billion in 

the fiscal year ended March 31, 2014 due to drop in sales volume, 

despite an increase in sales price from the rising price of crude oil. 

Although there were positive factors such as the effects of 

inventory valuation, operating income dropped ¥9.3 billion 

Business Topics from the Fiscal Year 
Ended March 31, 2014

Consolidated Performance:
Decrease in Profits on Weaker Revenues due to 
Periodic Maintenance and Deteriorating 
Market Conditions

Production and Sales:
Production and Sales Dip due to Full-scale 
Periodic Maintenance
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Business Environment in the Petroleum Industry:
Falling Demand for Oil in Japan

Completion of Full-scale Periodic Maintenance

Start of the New Fuji Oil

Atsuo Shibota
President and Representing Director



To Our Shareholders and Investors

compared to the previous fiscal year for an operating loss of ¥7.8 

billion owing to an increase in repair costs from periodic 

maintenance and a sharp contraction in the margin for petroleum 

products. Real operating income excluding the effects of inventory 

valuation dropped ¥12.1 billion year on year for an operating loss 

of ¥9.7 billion. Ordinary income fell ¥13.3 billion year on year for 

an ordinary loss of ¥10.1 billion caused by weaker operating 

income and a drop in foreign exchange gains and other factors.  

Net income increased ¥1.1 billion year on year for a net loss of 

¥11.8 billion as there were none of the significant extraordinary 

losses related to upstream operations which were recorded in the 

previous fiscal year.

While worldwide demand for oil is expected to rise in the future, 

particularly in Asia, domestic oil demand should continue its 

downward trend spurred on by changes in social structure, such 

as Japan’s declining birthrate and aging population as well as 

advances in energy conservation and fuel conversion.

 Given this business environment, under our new medium-

term business plan, we have designated the three-year period 

from fiscal year ending March 31, 2015 to fiscal year ending March 

31, 2017 as one in which the new Fuji Oil Company will secure a 

stable revenue base and mark its first step as a newly-born energy 

company. Our goal is to improve corporate value by taking full 

advantage of all business opportunities and fully leveraging our 

strengths, which include our advantageous location in the Great 

Tokyo Metro Area, a stable customer base, excellent processing 

capacity for heavy crude oil, Japan’s finest export facilities, as well 

as stable and safe operations underpinned by talented human 

resources and advanced facilities. We will carry out initiatives 

aimed at achieving sustainable growth and the quantitative targets 

for the final year of the new medium-term business plan that call 

for net sales of ¥670 billion, operating income of ¥7.5 billion, and 

ordinary income of ¥4.5 billion.
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Business Development:
Improving Corporate Value with 
the New Medium-term Business Plan

■ Main factors of change in operating income (Billions of Yen)
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＊Previous assumptions:  Price of crude oil (Dubai)  = $100/Bbl, foreign exchange rate: ¥100/$1,  AL-AH spread = $4.0/Bbl (Excluding gains/losses on inventory valuation)
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Years ending March 31

Maintain high operating ratio, and safe and stable operations
Maintain competitiveness through cost reductions and producing more high value-added products
Increase products for export
Promote energy efficiency

Business
strategies

（ ）Maintain operations, safety measures 
and energy efficiency

Capital Investment
(3-year total) 11.0billion¥＝

Cash-out 11.0 billion Investment of approx. ¥ 11.0 billion

Free Cash 23.0 billion
Allocated for the repayment of loans, 
return to shareholders and further investments¥

¥

Income after tax: ¥ 12.0 billion, 
Depreciation and amortization: ¥ 22.0 billionCash-in 34.0 billion¥



The outlook for the fiscal year ending March 31, 2015, or the first 

year of the new medium-term business plan, indicates we will see 

an 8% increase year on year in net sales to ¥757.0 billion owing 

to a prospective increase in revenue mainly because no periodic 

maintenance is scheduled, which caused a drop in sales volume in 

the fiscal year ended March 31, 2014.

 In terms of profit, we anticipate operating income to 

increase ¥13.3 billion year on year to ¥5.5 billion, ordinary income 

to increase ¥13.5 billion year on year to ¥3.4 billion, and net 

income to increase ¥14.7 billion year on year to ¥2.9 billion. We 

should bounce back into the black thanks to the elimination of 

factors causing decreased revenues such as periodic maintenance 

and expected improvements in oil product market conditions 

underpinned by the reduction in domestic refining capacity 

caused by the Act on Sophisticated Methods of Energy Supply 

Structures. Meanwhile, real operating income excluding the 

effects of inventory valuation is estimated to increase ¥12.6 billion 

year on year to ¥2.9 billion.

The distribution of profit to shareholders is one of the highest 

priorities for the Fuji Oil Group. We make the utmost efforts to 

maintain a continuous, stable payment of dividends to 

shareholders, with due consideration given to the appropriate 

level of internal reserves for the medium- to long-term expansion 

of our business as well as to financial and operational performance 

and to cash balance. In line with this policy, we have decided to 

pay ¥5 per share in dividends for the fiscal year ended March 31, 

2014. For the fiscal year ending March 31, 2015, we plan to pay 

dividends of ¥6 per share.

Our corporate philosophy includes commitments to “ensure stable 

supplies of energy” and “maintain safety and protect the global 

environment.” In order to meet these commitments, we engage 

in fair and sincere business activities that include supply chain 

management for stable supplies of energy and initiatives to reduce 

our impacts on the environment. As a company that has a 

responsibility to supply the energy indispensable to economic 

activities and everyday life, we are working to enhance our total 

corporate value through the stable supplies of energy, safe 

operations and environmental protection.

August 2014

Atsuo Shibota

President and Representing Director

Environmental
Protection

Safe
Operations

Social
Contribution

Stable
Supply

Outlook for the Fiscal Year Ending March 31, 2015 

Shareholder Return Policy 

Improving Corporate Value through 
the Fulfillment of Social Responsibilities 
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Business
strategies

（ ）Maintain operations, safety measures 
and energy efficiency

Capital Investment
(3-year total) 11.0billion¥＝

Cash-out 11.0 billion Investment of approx. ¥ 11.0 billion

Free Cash 23.0 billion
Allocated for the repayment of loans, 
return to shareholders and further investments¥

¥

Income after tax: ¥ 12.0 billion, 
Depreciation and amortization: ¥ 22.0 billionCash-in 34.0 billion¥

Measures under the Medium-term Business Plan

■	 Maintain stable operations and a high operating ratio 		
We will strive to maintain a high operating ratio at the Sodegaura 
Refinery by making maximum use of its advanced facilities and 
continuing safe and stable operations. 

■	 Maintain first-rate cost competitiveness 	 	
We will endeavor to improve profitability by producing more high 
value-added products and further reducing costs, and maintain first-
rate cost competitiveness in Japan by taking advantage of our 
refinery’s prime location in Tokyo Bay.

■	 Install a boiler turbine generator that utilizes asphalt  
 pitch as a fuel 		
We will aim to install an in-house boiler turbine generator (BTG) that 
utilizes asphalt pitch (ASP) as a fuel, which is expected to reduce 
electricity and other utility costs at the Sodegaura Refinery, expand 
flexibility in the selection of crude oils being processed, and enhance 
the added value of ASP, with operations planned to begin in July 
2017, which is the next time full-scale periodic maintenance will be 
carried out.

■	 Gather information on new business opportunities 		
We will gather information on opportunities to grow new businesses 
utilizing the existing business base of the Sodegaura Refinery, and 
analyze their economic efficiency and competitiveness. Such 
opportunities will include the production of new petrochemical 
products, sales of electric power utilizing ASP, and business 
development that targets a future hydrogen society.



FOC at a Glance

2014
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Consolidated Financial Highlights

2014

Cash Dividends per Share Attributable to the Year 
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Years ended March 31

Millions of Yen Thousands of
U.S. Dollars 1

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2014
For the year:
 Net sales ¥594,784 ¥571,149 ¥701,650 ¥780,028 ¥702,942 $6,829,984 
 Operating income (loss) (4,985) 4,363 5,281 1,548 (7,817) (75,952)
 Income (loss) before income taxes and minority interests (8,010) 1,318 1,001 (21,771) (10,886) (105,771)
 Net income (loss) (16,160) 4,019 3,371 (13,025) (11,897) (115,595)
 Capital expenditures 2 27,788 6,236 5,922 3,583 7,640 74,232
 Depreciation and amortization 12,922 13,464 11,658 9,804 9,176 89,157 

At year-end:
 Total assets ¥376,238 ¥370,542 ¥409,950 ¥360,891 ¥380,242 $3,694,539 
 Total net assets 91,344 93,067 94,766 81,116 75,347 732,093 
 Interest-bearing debt 206,747 172,800 166,211 151,448 193,377 1,878,906
 Interest-bearing debt 3 171,073 151,191 153,734 146,279 193,377 1,878,906
 Debt-equity ratio (times) 2.20 1.76 1.65 1.73 2.51
 Debt-equity ratio 3 (times) 1.82 1.54 1.52 1.67 2.51

Per share (yen and U.S. dollars 1):
 Basic net income (loss) per share ¥ (209.29) ¥   52.06 ¥   43.66 ¥ (168.69) ¥ (154.39) $          (1.5)
 Cash dividends per share attributable to the year 0 6 6 6 5 0.049 

 Number of employees 606 605 581 557 643
1: The translation of yen amounts into U.S. dollar amounts is included solely for the convenience of readers outside Japan and has been made, as a matter of arithmetic computation only, at the rate of 

¥102.92 = U.S.$1.00, the approximate rate of exchange on March 31, 2014.
2: Figures in 2010 and thereafter represent “increase in property, plant and equipment.”
3: Excluding borrowings for lending funds under the loan agreement with Kuwait Gulf Oil Company, which is substantially liable for repayment

05Fuji Oil Company, Ltd.



06 Fuji Oil Company, Ltd.

Millions of Yen

Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars 

(Note 1)

Assets 2014 2013 2014
Current assets:

Cash and deposits (Notes 4 and 16)  ¥ 12,837  ¥ 13,140  $ 124,728
Notes and accounts receivable–trade (Note 4) 89,244 99,985 867,120
Short-term investment securities (Notes 4, 5 and 16) 254 134 2,468
Inventories (Note 3) 129,460 96,378 1,257,870
Accounts receivable–other (Note 4) 18,633 11,386 181,044
Deferred tax assets (Note 11) 786 163 7,637
Other (Notes 10 and 14) 1,497 7,082 14,545

Total current assets 252,714 228,271 2,455,441

Property, plant and equipment (Note 6):
Buildings and structures, net (Note 10) 11,319 14,105 109,979
Storage tanks, net (Note 10) 3,090 2,415 30,023
Machinery, equipment and vehicles, net (Note 10) 30,668 31,942 297,979
Land (Notes 7 and 10) 51,794 51,080 503,245
Construction in progress 290 507 2,818
Other, net 270 272 2,623

Total property, plant and equipment 97,434 100,325 946,696

Intangible assets 828 987 8,045

Investments and other assets:
Investment securities (Notes 4, 5 and 10) 10,676 10,772 103,731
Long-term loans receivable (Notes 4, 10 and 14) 996 1,032 9,677
Deferred tax assets (Note 11) 140 13,856 1,360
Net defined benefit asset (Note 12) 158 – 1,535
Other (Note 10) 17,751 6,045 172,474
Allowance for doubtful accounts (Note 4) (458) (400) (4,450)

Total investments and other assets 29,265 31,306 284,347
Total assets  ¥ 380,242  ¥ 360,891  $ 3,694,539

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

Financial Section
Fuji Oil Company, Ltd. and Consolidated Subsidiaries
As of March 31, 2014 and 2013

Consolidated Balance Sheets
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Millions of Yen

Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars 

(Note 1)

Liabilities and Net assets 2014 2013 2014
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable–trade (Note 4)  ¥ 55,544  ¥ 51,697  $ 539,681
Short-term loans payable (Notes 4 and 10) 146,603 98,293 1,424,436
Current portion of long-term loans payable (Notes 4, 10 and 14) 5,980 33,613 58,103
Accounts payable–other (Note 4) 13,876 21,240 134,823
Excise taxes payable on gasoline and other fuels (Note 4) 17,678 23,935 171,764
Income taxes payable (Notes 4 and 11) 153 339 1,487
Provision for loans receivable agreement expenses – 55 –
Provision for loss on liquidation of subsidiaries and affiliates – 2,108 –
Other (Note 10) 6,561 5,644 63,749

Total current liabilities 246,399 236,928 2,394,083

Noncurrent liabilities:
Long-term loans payable (Notes 4, 10 and 14) 40,792 19,540 396,347
Deferred tax liabilities (Note 11) 11,041 9,433 107,277
Provision for special repairs 2,206 2,174 21,434
Provision for repairs 987 3,223 9,590
Provision for retirement benefits (Note 12) – 3,185 –
Net defined benefit liability (Note 12) 3,020 – 29,343
Provision for directors' retirement benefits 33 252 321
Other (Notes 7 and 18) 414 5,033 4,023

Total noncurrent liabilities 58,496 42,845 568,364

Commitments and contingent liabilities (Notes 14 and 15)

Net assets (Note 13)
Shareholders' equity:

Capital stock:
Authorized–200,000,000 shares in 2014 and 2013
Issued–78,183,677 shares in 2014 and 2013 24,467 24,467 237,728

Capital surplus 57,215 57,215 555,917
Retained earnings (3,176) 6,940 (30,859)
Treasury stock (Notes 10 and 13) (1,431) (1,239) (13,904)

Total shareholders' equity 77,074 87,384 748,873
Accumulated other comprehensive income:

Valuation difference on available-for-sale securities 115 (22) 1,117
Deferred gains or losses on hedges 0 – 0
Revaluation reserve for land 1 2 10
Foreign currency translation adjustments (2,295) (6,328) (22,299)
Remeasurements of defined benefit plans (Note 12) 217 – 2,108

Total accumulated other comprehensive income (1,961) (6,348) (19,054)
Minority interests 234 80 2,274
Total net assets 75,347 81,116 732,093
Total liabilities and net assets  ¥ 380,242  ¥ 360,891  $ 3,694,539

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Millions of Yen

Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars 

(Note 1)

2014 2013 2014
Net sales (Note 20)  ¥ 702,942  ¥ 780,028  $ 6,829,984
Cost of sales (Note 3) 706,721 772,831 6,866,702

Gross profit (loss) (3,779) 7,197 (36,718)

Exploration expenses – 93 –
Selling, general and administrative expenses (Note 8) 4,038 5,555 39,234

Operating income (loss) (7,817) 1,548 (75,952)

Non-operating income (expenses):
Interest and dividends income 263 493 2,555
Equity in losses of affiliates (11) (82) (107)
Interest expenses (2,712) (2,847) (26,351)
Foreign exchange gains, net 1,179 4,631 11,455
Loss on retirement of noncurrent assets (Note 9) (282) (21) (2,740)
Impairment losses (Note 7) (7) (22,887) (68)
Insurance income – 58 –
Provision for loss on liquidation of subsidiaries and affiliates – (2,108) –
Loss on liquidation of business (532) – (5,169)
Gain on transfer of business 200 – 1,943
Integration related costs (151) – (1,467)
Other, net (1,014) (558) (9,852)

(3,069) (23,319) (29,819)

Loss before income taxes and minority interests (10,886) (21,771) (105,771)

Income taxes (Note 11):
Income taxes–current 151 368 1,467
Income taxes–deferred 841 (9,135) 8,171

992 (8,766) 9,639
Loss before minority interests (11,879) (13,005) (115,420)

Minority interests in income 18 20 175
Net Loss  ¥ (11,897)  ¥ (13,025)  $ (115,595)

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

Financial Section
Fuji Oil Company, Ltd. and Consolidated Subsidiaries
For the years ended March 31, 2014 and 2013

Consolidated Statements of Operations
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Millions of Yen

Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars 

(Note 1)

2014 2013 2014
Loss before minority interests  ¥ (11,879)  ¥ (13,005)  $ (115,420)
Other comprehensive income (loss):

Valuation difference on available-for-sale securities 138 41 1,341
Deferred gains or losses on hedges 0 – 0
Foreign currency translation adjustments 2,531 (917) 24,592
Share of other comprehensive income of associates accounted for using equity method 1,500 724 14,574
Total other comprehensive income 4,171 (150) 40,527

Comprehensive income (Note 19)  ¥ (7,707)  ¥ (13,156)  $ (74,883)
Comprehensive income attributable to:

Owners of the parent  ¥ (7,726)  ¥ (13,176)  $ (75,068)
Minority interests 18 20 175

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

Fuji Oil Company, Ltd. and Consolidated Subsidiaries
For the years ended March 31, 2014 and 2013

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income
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Millions of Yen

Shareholders’ equity

Number of 
shares of 

capital stock
Capital
stock

Capital 
surplus

Retained 
earnings

Treasury 
stock

Total 
shareholders’ 

equity

Net assets at April 1, 2012 78,183,677 ¥24,467 ¥57,215  ¥ 20,429 ¥(1,239)  ¥ 100,874
Dividends from surplus (463) (463)
Net loss (13,025) (13,025)
Purchase of treasury stock (0) (0)
Net changes of items other  
than shareholders' equity –

Total changes during the period – – (13,489) (0) (13,489)
Net assets at April 1, 2013 78,183,677 24,467 57,215 6,940 (1,239) 87,384

Dividends from surplus (463) (463)
Net loss (11,897) (11,897)
Change in scope of consolidation 2,020 (192) 1,827
Change in scope of equity method 220 220
Reversal of revaluation reserve  
for land 1 1

Net changes of items other  
than shareholders' equity –

Total changes during the period – – (10,117) (192) (10,310)
Balance at March 31, 2014 78,183,677 ¥24,467 ¥57,215  ¥ (3,176) ¥(1,431)  ¥ 77,074

Millions of Yen

Accumulated other comprehensive income

Valuation 
difference on 

available-for-sale 
securities

Deferred gains 
or losses

on hedges
Revaluation

reserve for land

Foreign currency 
translation 

adjustments

Remeasure-
ments of 

defined benefit 
plans

Total accumu-
lated other 

comprehensive 
income

Minority 
interests

Total 
net assets

Net assets at April 1, 2012  ¥ (64) – ¥2  ¥(6,135) –  ¥(6,197) ¥90 ¥94,766
Dividends from surplus (463)
Net loss (13,025)
Purchase of treasury stock (0)
Net changes of items other  
than shareholders' equity 41 (0) (192) (150) (10) (160)

Total changes during the period 41 – (0) (192) – (150) (10) (13,650)
Net assets at April 1, 2013 (22) – 2 (6,328) – (6,348) 80 81,116

Dividends from surplus (463)
Net loss (11,897)
Change in scope of consolidation 1,827
Change in scope of equity method 220
Reversal of revaluation reserve  
for land 1

Net changes of items other  
than shareholders' equity 138 0 (1) 4,032 217 4,386 154 4,540

Total changes during the period 138 0 (1) 4,032 217 4,386 154 (5,769)
Balance at March 31, 2014  ¥ 115 ¥0 ¥1  ¥(2,295) ¥217  ¥(1,961) ¥234 ¥75,347

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

Financial Section
Fuji Oil Company, Ltd. and Consolidated Subsidiaries
For the years ended March 31, 2014 and 2013

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Net Assets



11Fuji Oil Company, Ltd.

Thousands of U.S. Dollars (Note 1)

Shareholders’ equity

Number of 
shares of 

capital stock
Capital
stock

Capital 
surplus

Retained 
earnings

Treasury 
stock

Total 
shareholders’ 

equity

Net assets at April 1, 2013 78,183,677 $237,728 $555,917 $67,431 $(12,038) $849,048
Dividends from surplus (4,499) (4,499)
Net loss (115,595) (115,595)
Change in scope of consolidation 19,627 (1,866) 17,752
Change in scope of equity method 2,138 2,138
Reversal of revaluation reserve  
for land 10 10

Net changes of items other than 
shareholders' equity –

Total changes during the period – – (98,300) (1,866) (100,175)
Balance at March 31, 2014 78,183,677 $237,728 $555,917 $(30,859) $(13,904) $748,873

Thousands of U.S. Dollars (Note 1)

Accumulated other comprehensive income

Valuation 
difference on 

available-for-sale 
securities

Deferred gains 
or losses

on hedges
Revaluation

reserve for land

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
adjustments

Remeasure-
ments of 

defined benefit 
plans

Total accumu-
lated other 

comprehensive 
income

Minority 
interests

Total 
net assets

Net assets at April 1, 2013 $(214) – $19 $(61,485) – $(61,679) $777 $788,146
Dividends from surplus (4,499)
Net loss (115,595)
Change in scope of consolidation 17,752
Change in scope of equity method 2,138
Reversal of revaluation reserve  
for land 10

Net changes of items other than 
shareholders' equity 1,341 0 (10) 39,176 2,108 42,616 1,496 44,112

Total changes during the period 1,341 0 (10) 39,176 2,108 42,616 1,496 (56,053)
Balance at March 31, 2014 $1,117 $0 $10 $(22,299) $2,108 $(19,054) $2,274 $732,093

See notes to consolidated financial statements.



12 Fuji Oil Company, Ltd.

Millions of Yen

Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars 

(Note 1)

2014 2013 2014
Net cash flows provided by (used in) operating activities:

Loss before income taxes and minority interests ¥(10,886)  ¥(21,771)  $(105,771)
Depreciation and amortization 9,176 9,804 89,157 
Impairment losses 7 22,887 68 
(Decrease) increase in provision for repairs (2,236) 2,286 (21,726)
Decrease in provision for retirement benefits – (186) –
Decrease in net defined benefit liability (197) – (1,914)
Increase in allowance for doubtful accounts 15 – 146 
Increase in provision for special repairs 31 56 301 
Decrease in provision for directors' retirement benefits (233) (22) (2,264)
Decrease in provision for loans receivable agreement expenses (55) (144) (534)
Increase in provision for loss on liquidation of subsidiaries and affiliates – 2,108 –
Interest and dividends income (263) (494) (2,555)
Interest expenses 2,712 2,847 26,351 
Equity in losses of affiliates 11 82 107 
Loss on retirement of noncurrent assets 282 21 2,740 
Gain on sale of noncurrent assets (0) (3) (0)
Insurance income – (58) –
Gain on transfer of business (200) – (1,943)
Integration related costs 151 – 1,467 
Loss on liquidation of business 532 – 5,169 
Decrease (increase) in notes and accounts receivable–trade 11,748 (1,790) 114,147 
(Increase) decrease in inventories (33,080) 25,773 (321,415)
Increase (decrease) in notes and accounts payable–trade 3,592 (27,631) 34,901 
(Decrease) increase in excise taxes payable on gasoline and other fuels (6,257) 4,189 (60,795)
Other, net (15,949) (11,035) (154,965)

Subtotal (41,098) 6,916 (399,320)

Interest and dividends income received 462 1,168 4,489 
Interest expenses paid (2,770) (2,899) (26,914)
Proceeds from insurance income – 58 –
Payments for integration related costs (151) – (1,467)
Payments for liquidation of business (532) – (5,169)
Income taxes paid (351) (342) (3,410)
Income taxes refund 478 700 4,644 

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities (43,962) 5,602 (427,147)

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Millions of Yen

Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars 

(Note 1)

2014 2013 2014
Net cash flows provided by investing activities:

Payments into time deposits – (1,975) –
Proceeds from withdrawal of time deposits – 3,357 –
Proceeds from capital reduction of investment securities 93 – 904
Procceds from sales of short-term investment securities – 4 –
Purchase of investment securities (1) (105) (10)
Proceeds from sales of investment securities 28 133 272
Proceeds from liquidation of subsidiaries 63 – 612
Proceeds from sales of shares of subsidiaries resulting in change in scope of consolidation 1,438 – 13,972
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (7,049) (3,889) (68,490)
Proceeds from sales of property, plant and equipment 0 3 0
Proceeds from national subsidies – 103 –
Purchase of intangible assets (191) (71) (1,856)
Payments of  long-term loans receivable (0) (9) (0)
Collection of long-term loans receivable 5,534 8,076 53,770
Payments for investments for exploration development – (110) –
Proceeds from transfer of business 200 – 1,943
Other, net 40 (24) 389

Net cash provided by investing activities 155 5,491 1,506

Net cash flows provided by (used in) financing activities:
Net increase (decrease) in short-term loans payable 48,216 (2,249) 468,480
Proceeds from long-term loans payable 27,256 6,444 264,827
Repayment of long-term loans payable (33,963) (19,776) (329,994)
Purchase of treasury stock – (0) –
Cash dividends paid (463) (461) (4,499)
Cash dividends paid to minority shareholders (0) (30) (0)
Other, net (128) (132) (1,244)

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 40,916 (16,207) 397,551
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 499 320 4,848
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (2,391) (4,792) (23,232)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year (Note 16) 13,264 18,057 128,877
Increase in cash and cash equivalents resulting from change in scope of 
consolidation 1,828 – 17,761

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year (Note 16) ¥12,701  ¥13,264 $123,407

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been 

prepared from the accounts maintained by Fuji Oil Company, 

Ltd. (the “Company”) and its domestic and foreign subsidiaries 

(the “Companies”), and are compiled from the consolidated 

financial statements prepared by the Company as required by 

the Financial Instruments and Exchange Law of Japan.

The Company and its domestic subsidiaries maintain their 

accounting records in conformity with accounting principles 

and practices generally accepted in Japan (“Japanese GAAP”), 

which are different in certain respects as to application and 

disclosure requirements of International Financial Reporting 

Standards. Foreign subsidiaries maintain their accounting 

records in accordance with International Financial Reporting 

Standards.

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have 

been restructured and translated into English from the 

consolidated financial statements of the Company prepared in 

accordance with Japanese GAAP and filed with the appropriate 

Local Finance Bureau of the Ministry of Finance as required by 

the Financial Instruments and Exchange Law. Certain 

supplementary information included in the statutory Japanese 

language consolidated financial statements, but not required 

for fair presentation, is not presented in the accompanying 

consolidated financial statements.

As permitted by the Financial Instruments and Exchange 

Law, amounts of less than one million yen have been omitted. 

As a result, the totals shown in the accompanying consolidated 

financial statements (both in yen and U.S. dollars) do not 

necessarily agree with the sum of the individual amounts.

The translation of yen amounts into U.S. dollar amounts is 

included solely for the convenience of readers outside Japan 

and has been made, as a matter of arithmetic computation 

only, at the rate of ¥102.92 = U.S.$1.00, the approximate rate 

of exchange on March 31, 2014. This translation should not be 

construed as a representation that yen amounts have been, 

could have been, or could in the future be, converted into U.S. 

dollars at the above or any other rate.

(a) Principles of consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the 

accounts of the Company and its nine and eight significant 

subsidiaries as of March 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively. 

Consolidated subsidiaries as of March 31, 2014 are as follows:

■ Arabian Oil Company, Ltd.

■ Petro Progress, Inc.

■ Petro Progress Pte Ltd.

■ Japan Oil Engineering Co. Ltd.

■ Fuji Tanker Company, Ltd.

■ Fuji Oil Sales Co., Ltd.

■ Fuji Rinkai Co., Ltd.

■ Tokyo Oil Promotion Inc.

■ Ain Jptc Company, Ltd.

Japan Oil Engineering Co., Ltd. and Tokyo Oil Promotion Inc., 

which were excluded from the scope of consolidation but 

accounted for by the equity method in the previous year, and Ain 

Jptc Company, Ltd., which was excluded from consolidation and 

not accounted for by the equity method in the previous year, 

have been included in the scope of consolidation in the fiscal year 

as they have become more material. Norske AEDC AS has been 

removed from the scope of consolidation because all the shares 

were sold. The Company (former AOC Holdings, Inc.) merged 

with its specified subsidiary (former Fuji Oil Company, Ltd.) on 

October 1, 2013, with the Company as the surviving company, 

and changed its name to Fuji Oil Company, Ltd. Thus, former Fuji 

Oil Company, Ltd. was absorbed and removed from consolidated 

subsidiaries.

Two and six other subsidiaries in 2014 and 2013, respectively, 

are excluded from the scope of consolidation because they are 

less material in terms of total assets, net sales, net income (loss) 

and retained earnings and do not have a material effect on the 

consolidated financial statements as a whole. Non-consolidated 

subsidiaries as of March 31, 2014 are as follows:

■ Sigma Techno Co., Ltd.

■ Middle East Construction Co., Ltd.

1. Basis of Presenting the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Financial Section
Fuji Oil Company, Ltd. and Consolidated Subsidiaries

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Petro Progress Pte Ltd. has a fiscal year-end of December 31. 

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the accounts of 

the above company for the fiscal year ended December 31 with 

adjustments for significant transactions arising after year-end.

(b) Equity method

The equity method is applied to the investments in two affiliates 

in 2014 and two non-consolidated subsidiaries and an affiliate in 

2013. Affiliates accounted for by the equity method as of March 

31, 2014 are as follows: 

■ Aramo Shipping (Singapore) Pte Ltd.

■ Tokai Engineering & Construction Co., Ltd.

Tokai Engineering & Construction Co., Ltd., which was not 

accounted for by the equity method in the previous year, has 

been accounted for by the equity method in this fiscal year as the 

company has become more material.

Investment securities (equity) in other non-consolidated 

subsidiaries and affiliates (four and seven companies in 2014 and 

2013, respectively) are not accounted for by the equity method, 

but stated at cost, because the corresponding amounts of net 

income (loss) and retained earnings have little impact and do not 

have a material effect on the consolidated financial statements as 

a whole. Non-consolidated subsidiaries and affiliates not 

accounted for by the equity method as of March 31, 2014 are as 

follows:

■ Sigma Techno Co., Ltd.

■ Middle East Construction Co., Ltd.

■ Kyodo Terminal Co., Ltd.

■ Keiyo Sea Berth Co., Ltd.

The accounts of certain equity method subsidiaries and affiliates 

with a fiscal year-end different from the Company’s fiscal year-end 

are consolidated on the basis of the equity method subsidiaries’ 

and affiliates’ respective fiscal year-end.

(c) Cash and cash equivalents

In preparing the consolidated statements of cash flows, cash 

equivalents comprise of readily-available deposits and all highly 

liquid short-term investments exposed to little risk of fluctuations 

in the value with an original maturity of three months or less.

(d)  Short-term investment securities and investment 

securities

Securities other than equity securities issued by subsidiaries and 

affiliates are classified as either held-to-maturity securities or 

available-for-sale securities. Held-to-maturity securities are carried 

at amortized cost. Short-term investment securities and 

investment securities classified as available-for-sale securities are 

carried at fair value with any changes in valuation on available-for-

sale securities, net of taxes, included directly in accumulated other 

comprehensive income under net assets. The cost of marketable 

available-for-sale securities sold is calculated by the moving-

average method. Non-marketable securities classified as available-

for-sale securities are carried at cost determined by the moving-

average method.

(e) Inventories

Inventories held for sale in the ordinary course of business are 

measured at the lower of cost or net selling value, which is 

defined as the selling price less additional estimated manufacturing 

costs and estimated direct selling expenses. The replacement cost 

may be used in place of the net selling value, if appropriate.

Finished goods, semi-finished goods and crude oil are stated at 

cost determined by the gross average method. Goods in transit 

are stated at cost determined by the specific identification method 

and stored goods are stated at cost determined by the moving-

average method.

(f) Impairment of long-lived assets

Long-lived assets, such as property, plant, and equipment, and 

acquired intangibles subject to amortization, are reviewed for 

impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate 

that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. 

Recoverability of assets to be held and used is measured by a 

comparison of the carrying amount of the asset to estimated 

undiscounted future cash flows expected to be generated by the 

asset. If the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its estimated 

future cash flows, an impairment charge is recognized in the 

amount by which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds the 

fair value of the asset. Assets to be disposed of by sale are 

reported at the lower of the carrying amount or fair value less 

costs to sell, and are no longer depreciated.
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(g) Depreciation and amortization

Depreciation of manufacturing plant equipment for petrochemical 

products and in-house power generating equipment is calculated 

principally by the declining-balance method and depreciation of 

other property, plant and equipment is calculated principally by 

the straight-line method, except for one consolidated subsidiary 

using the declining-balance method, based on the estimated 

useful lives of the respective assets. The useful lives of major 

property, plant and equipment are summarized as follows:

■ Buildings and structures 2 to 60 years

■ Storage tanks  10 to 15 years

■ Machinery, equipment and vehicles  2 to 17 years

Intangible assets, except for mineral rights which are amortized 

by the unit-of-production method, are amortized by the straight-

line method over their respective estimated useful lives. Software 

intended for internal use is amortized by the straight-line method 

over an estimated useful life of five years.

(h) Allowance for doubtful accounts

The allowance for doubtful accounts is provided at an amount 

determined based on the historical experience of bad debts with 

respect to ordinary receivables, plus an estimate of uncollectible 

amounts determined by reference to specific doubtful receivables.

(i) Provision for repairs

The provision for repairs is provided at an amount equivalent to 

the estimated amount of statutory periodical maintenance 

expenses for machinery and equipment. 

(j) Provision for special repairs

The provision for special repairs is provided at an amount 

determined based on historical experience with respect to the 

periodical inspection and maintenance expenses for storage tanks 

required by the Fire Defense Law and for vessels required by the 

Vessel Safety Law.

(k) Provision for loans receivable agreement expenses 

The technical services agreement between Arabian Oil 

Company, Ltd. (“AOC”), a wholly-owned subsidiary, and Kuwait 

Gulf Oil Company (“KGOC”) expired on January 4, 2008. This 

contract constituted part of the contracts structure with 

Kuwait, replacing the old concession agreement. Provision for 

loans receivable agreement expenses is provided for a part of 

the loan agreement expenses relating to Kuwait contracts, 

deemed irrecoverable as of March 31, 2013.

(l) Provision for retirement benefits 

(i)  Periodic allocation method for projected retirement 

benefits

Regarding determination of retirement benefit obligations, the 

straight-line basis is adopted as the method of attributing 

expected benefit to the periods until this fiscal year end.

(ii)  Method for processing actuarial gains and losses and 

prior service costs

Prior service costs are amortized by the straight-line method 

over a period (10 years) within the average remaining years of 

service of the eligible employees. Actuarial gains and losses are 

amortized from the year following the year in which the gain or 

loss is incurred by the straight-line method over a period (10 

years) within the average remaining years of service of the 

eligible employees.

(m) Provision for directors’ retirement benefits

Provision for directors’ retirement benefits is estimated based on 

the amount calculated in accordance with internal rules.

(n)  Provision for loss on liquidation of subsidiaries and 

affiliates

Provision for loss on liquidation of subsidiaries and affiliates was 

recorded for the losses expected to be incurred upon liquidation 

of its consolidated subsidiary, Norske AEDC AS (“NAEDC”).

(o) Exploration expenses

The expenditures incurred in connection with the exploration 

activities for crude oil and natural gas are charged to income and 

separately disclosed under “Exploration expenses” in the 

accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

(p) Derivatives and hedge accounting

Derivatives are principally stated at fair value. If certain hedging 

criteria are met, the gain or loss on a derivative designated as a 

hedging instrument is deferred as part of accumulated other 

comprehensive income in the accompanying consolidated balance 

sheets until the hedged item is settled. Alternatively, foreign 

currency denominated receivables and payables hedged by 

forward exchange contracts are translated at the respective 

forward contract rates. Furthermore, in case where interest rate 

swap contracts are used as hedge and meet certain hedging 

Financial Section
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criteria, the net amount to be paid or received under the interest 

rate swap contract is added to or deducted from the interest on 

the assets or liabilities for which the swap contract was executed. 

In case conditions such as principal, interest rate and maturity 

of hedged assets or liabilities and derivatives instruments are 

almost the same, hedge effectiveness test is omitted because its 

hedge effect is deemed extremely high.

(q) Income taxes

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for expected 

future tax consequences attributable to temporary differences 

between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing 

assets and liabilities and their respective tax basis, and operating 

loss and tax credit carryforwards. A valuation allowance is 

recorded to reduce deferred income tax assets to their net 

realizable value if it is more likely than not that some portion or all 

of the deferred tax asset will not be realized. The Company and 

certain domestic subsidiaries adopt a consolidated tax filing system.

(r) Foreign currency translation

All monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 

currencies are translated into Japanese yen at the exchange rate 

prevailing at the balance sheet date, except for foreign currency 

denominated monetary receivables and payables hedged by 

forward exchange contracts as noted above. Income and 

expenses in foreign currencies are translated at the rates prevailing 

at the time of the transactions. The resulting exchange gains or 

losses are credited or changed to income as incurred.

Financial statements of foreign subsidiaries and affiliates are 

translated into Japanese yen at the balance sheet exchange rates 

for all assets and liabilities, at historical exchange rates for 

shareholders’ equity and average exchange rates during the year 

for all income and expense accounts. Foreign currency translation 

adjustments resulting from the above translation procedures are 

reported as a component of accumulated other comprehensive 

income under net assets in the accompanying consolidated 

balance sheets.

(s) Reclassifications

Certain amounts in the prior year’s financial statements have been 

reclassified to conform to the current year’s presentation.

(t) Investment for exploration development

Investment for exploration development includes the expenditures 

incurred after oil and gas were discovered and the future 

commercial production was considered to be feasible as a result 

of exploration activities for crude oil and natural gas.

(u) Application of new accounting standards

From the fiscal year ended March 31, 2014, the Companies applied 

the “Accounting Standard for Retirement Benefits” (Accounting 

Standards Board of Japan (“ASBJ”) Statement No. 26, revised on 

May 17, 2012) and “Guidance on Accounting Standard for 

Retirement Benefits” (ASBJ Guidance No. 25, revised on May 17, 

2012) except the main clause of the Article 35 of the accounting 

standard and the main clause of the Article 67 of the guidance. 

The amount of retirement benefit obligations after deducting plan 

assets is recognized as net defined benefit asset and liability. 

At adoption, the transitional treatment stated in Article 37 of 

the accounting standard was applied and effects of this change 

were recognized as “remeasurements of defined benefit plans” of 

accumulated other comprehensive income at the end of this fiscal 

year. As a result, “net defined benefit liability” and “net defined 

benefit asset” were recognized at ¥3,020 million ($29,343 

thousand) and ¥158 million ($1,535 thousand) as of March 31, 

2014, respectively. In addition, accumulated other comprehensive 

income increased by ¥217 million ($2,108 thousand). For the 

effects on per share information, please refer to “Per Share Data”.

(v) Unapplied accounting standard

“Accounting Standard for Retirement Benefits” (ASBJ Statement 

No. 26, revised on May 17, 2012) 

“Guidance on Accounting Standard for Retirement Benefits” (ASBJ 

Guidance No. 25, revised on May 17, 2012) 

These accounting standards have been revised to improve 

financial reporting and move toward international convergence. 

The main changes are the accounting methods for unrecognized 

actuarial gains and losses and unrecognized prior service costs, 

and enhancement of disclosure items; as well as changes to the 

calculation methods for retirement benefit obligations and 

service costs. 

The Companies have already applied the accounting standards 

except the calculation methods for retirement benefit obligations 

and service costs, for which they will apply the revised accounting 

standards from the beginning of the fiscal year ending March 31, 

2015. Effects of adoption of the revised accounting standards are 

currently being examined.
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(1) Qualitative information on financial instruments

(a) Policies for using financial instruments

The Company and its consolidated subsidiaries limit their 

investment of temporary surpluses to short-term deposits 

and procure funds for capital investment and working 

capital through bank loans. Derivatives are employed to 

hedge against the risks described below; the Company and 

its consolidated subsidiaries do not engage in speculative 

transactions.

(b) Policies and systems for risk management

Trade notes and accounts receivable, which are claimable 

assets, are subject to customer credit risk. Also, certain 

imported commodities are denominated in foreign currencies, 

and therefore entail exchange rate fluctuation risk, as are 

products for export that are denominated in foreign 

currencies. The Company uses forward foreign exchange 

contracts to hedge this risk. As deferral hedge accounting is 

employed for forward foreign exchange contracts, an 

evaluation of hedge effectiveness is not performed.

Short-term investment securities and investment securities 

are mainly equity securities and the Company reviews the 

market values on a quarterly basis for listed securities.

Most accounts payable, which are trade liabilities, are 

payable within four months. Certain accounts payable and 

the below-mentioned short-term loans payable related to 

crude oil imports are denominated in foreign currencies and 

are therefore subject to exchange rate fluctuation risk.

Forward foreign exchange contracts are used to hedge 

this risk. As deferral hedge accounting is applied for forward 

foreign exchange contracts, an evaluation of hedge 

effectiveness is not performed.

Among loans, short-term loans payable include mainly 

funds raised as working capital in relation to crude oil 

imports. Long-term loans payable mainly comprise funds 

raised for capital expenditure. Floating-rate loans are subject 

to interest rate fluctuation risk, but for most long-term loans 

the Company minimizes the risk of fluctuations in interest 

payments by fixing payment interest rates, employing 

interest rate swap transactions to hedge individual contracts. 

With regard to the evaluation of hedge effectiveness, as 

interest rate swaps meet the conditions for the application 

of exceptional accounting as described in Note 2 (p), an 

evaluation of hedge effectiveness is not performed.

With regard to derivative transactions, in addition to the 

above-mentioned forward foreign exchange contracts and 

interest rate swap transactions, for forecasted transactions 

for crude oil and products, the Company uses commodity 

swap transactions as a method of hedging the risk of 

fluctuations in future cash flows arising from commodity 

price fluctuations. The evaluation of hedge effectiveness is 

based on a comparison between the price fluctuations on 

crude oil and products and the cumulative fluctuation in 

rates on hedged items during the period from hedge 

commencement until the evaluation date.

With regard to the execution and control of derivative 

4. Financial Instruments

Inventories at March 31, 2014 and 2013 consisted of the following:

Millions of Yen

Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars 

(Note 1)

2014 2013 2014
Merchandise and finished goods ¥   42,562 ¥ 37,326 $    413,545
Raw materials and supplies 86,897 59,052 844,316

Total ¥ 129,460 ¥ 96,378 $ 1,257,870

Inventories are reduced when the contribution of inventories to profitability declines. Write-down (net of reversal) of inventories 

held for sale amounted to ¥1,734 million ($16,848 thousand) and ¥ (18) million for the years ended March 31, 2014 and 2013, 

respectively, and were included in cost of sales in the consolidated statements of operations.

3. Inventories

Financial Section
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transactions, authorizations and monetary limits on 

transactions and controls are determined in accordance with 

internal regulations.

When employing derivatives, the Company selects as 

contractual counterparties Japanese banks, major trading 

companies and securities firms with high credit ratings. 

Consequently, the credit risk arising from counterparties 

being unable to fulfill their contractual obligations is 

considered negligible.

Trade liabilities and loans are subject to liquidity risk. To 

manage this risk, the Company creates and updates cash 

flow plans in a timely manner on the basis of reports from 

individual departments.

(c) Supplemental information on fair values

In Note 4 (2) Fair values of financial instruments, market risk 

related to derivative financial instruments is not included in 

the contract amounts of those instruments.

(2) Fair values of financial instruments

Carrying values and fair values of the financial instruments on the consolidated balance sheets as of March 31, 2014 and 2013 are set 

out in the table below. 

The following table does not include financial instruments for which it is extremely difficult to determine the fair value.

Millions of Yen

Thousands of
U.S. dollars

(Note 1)

Assets 2014 2013 2014
Carrying value:

Cash and deposits ¥ 12,837 ¥ 13,140 $  124,728
Notes and accounts receivable–trade 89,244 99,985 867,120
Short-term investment securities and investment securities:

Held-to-maturity debt securities 100 – 972
Available-for-sale securities 1,898 1,696 18,442

Accounts receivable–other 18,633 11,386 181,044
Long-term loans receivable, net of allowance of doubtful accounts 537 632 5,218

Total 123,251 126,841 1,197,542

Fair value:
Cash and deposits 12,837  13,140 124,728
Notes and accounts receivable–trade 89,244 99,985 867,120
Short-term investment securities and investment securities:

Held-to-maturity debt securities 100 – 972
Available-for-sale securities 1,898 1,696 18,442

Accounts receivable–other 18,633 11,386 181,044
Long-term loans receivable, net of allowance of doubtful accounts 537 632 5,218

Total 123,251 126,841 1,197,542

Difference:
Cash and deposits – – –
Notes and accounts receivable–trade – – –
Short-term investment securities and investment securities:

Held-to-maturity debt securities – – –
Available-for-sale securities – – –

Accounts receivable–other – – –
Long-term loans receivable, net of allowance of doubtful accounts – – –

Total ¥ – ¥ – $       –
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Millions of Yen

Thousands of
U.S. dollars

(Note 1)

Liabilities 2014 2013 2014
Carrying value:

Accounts payable–trade ¥ 55,544 ¥ 51,697 $  539,681
Short-term loans payable 146,603 98,293 1,424,436
Accounts payable–other 13,876 21,240 134,823
Excise taxes payable on gasoline and other fuels 17,678 23,935 171,764
Income taxes payable 153 339 1,487
Long-term loans payable 46,773 53,154 454,460

Total 280,630 248,661 2,726,681

Fair value:
Accounts payable–trade 55,544  51,697 539,681
Short-term loans payable 146,603 98,293 1,424,436
Accounts payable–other 13,876 21,240 134,823
Excise taxes payable on gasoline and other fuels 17,678 23,935 171,764
Income taxes payable 153 339 1,487
Long-term loans payable 46,955 53,420 456,228

Total 280,811 248,928 2,728,440

Difference:
Accounts payable–trade – – –
Short-term loans payable – – –
Accounts payable–other – – –
Excise taxes payable on gasoline and other fuels – – –
Income taxes payable – – –
Long-term loans payable 181 266 1,759

Total ¥    181 ¥    266 $    1,759

Method of calculating the fair value of financial 

instruments and matters related to investment 

securities and derivative transactions

Assets:

(a)  Cash and deposits, notes and accounts receivable–

trade and accounts receivable–other

As these instruments are settled within a short term, their 

carrying value approximates fair value.

(b)  Short-term investment securities and investment 

securities

The fair values of equity securities are determined by their 

quoted prices on stock exchanges. The fair values of bonds 

are determined by discounting their value at maturity to 

present value at the corresponding interest rate. 

See Note 5 for an analysis of securities by classification.

(c) Long-term loans receivable

Fair value is calculated based on the present value of estimated 

future cash flows, using an interest rate based on borrower 

credit risk. For loans in danger of default, the fair value may be 

taken as the current value of estimated future cash flows, or, as 

estimated loan losses are calculated based on the expected 

recoverable amount, the fair value determined by subtracting 

current loan loss estimates from the book value as of the 

balance sheet date.

Financial Section
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Liabilities:

(a)  Accounts payable–trade, short-term loans payable, 

accounts payable–other, income taxes payable and 

excise taxes payable on gasoline and other fuels

As these instruments are settled within a short term, their 

carrying value approximates fair value.

(b) Long-term loans payable

For floating-rate loans, the Company assumes that interest 

rates reflect market rates over the short term and credit 

conditions will not change significantly after loans have gone 

into effect, so that the carrying value approximates fair value. 

For fixed-rate loans, the total amount of principal and interest 

is discounted to present value using the assumed rate of 

interest on new loans of the same type to calculate fair value.

(*)  Method used for lease obligations is omitted since the 

amount is immaterial.

Derivatives:

(a) Hedge accounting not applied

There are no outstanding derivative transactions for which 

hedge accounting is not applied at March 31, 2014 and 2013.

(b) Hedge accounting applied

The Company has applied hedge accounting for forward 

exchange contracts to hedge risks of changes in foreign 

exchange rates on accounts receivable, accounts payable and 

short-term loans payable. The contract amounts at March 31, 

2014 and 2013 are ¥99,464 million ($966,421 thousand) and 

¥58,531 million for accounts payable and short-term loans 

payable, respectively. As discussed in Note 2 (p), foreign 

currency denominated receivables and payables hedged by 

forward exchange contracts are translated at the respective 

forward contract rates. Therefore, the fair value of accounts 

receivable, accounts payable, and short-term loans payable 

include the fair value of the forward exchange contracts.

The Company has applied hedge accounting for interest 

rate swap contracts to hedge risks of changes in floating 

interest rates on long-term loans payable. The contract 

amount at March 31, 2014 is ¥27,993 million ($271,988 

thousand) and the amount of contracts for which terms are 

more than one year is ¥25,399 million ($246,784 thousand). 

The contract amount at March 31, 2013 was ¥22,507 million 

and the amount of contracts for which terms are more than 

one year was ¥8,943 million. As discussed in Note 2 (p), if 

interest rate swap contracts are used as hedges and meet 

certain hedging criteria, the net amount to be paid or 

received under the interest rate swap contract is added to or 

deducted from the interest on the assets or liabilities for 

which the swap contract was executed. Therefore, the fair 

value of long-term loans payable includes the fair value of the 

interest swap contracts.

Financial instruments for which fair value is not readily determinable

The carrying value of financial instruments for which their values are not readily determinable as of March 31, 2014 and 2013 are 

as follows:

Millions of Yen

Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars 

(Note 1)

Assets 2014 2013 2014
Unlisted equity securities ¥  252 ¥  345 $  2,449
Stocks of affiliated companies ¥8,680 ¥8,865 $84,337
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Monetary claims and securities with maturities after the balance sheet date and their expected maturity values

The redemption schedule for monetary claims and securities with maturity dates as of March 31, 2014, are summarized as follows:

Millions of Yen

One year or less

More than one 
year, within five 

years

More than five 
years, within 

10 years
More than
10 years

2014
Cash and deposits ¥ 12,837 ¥ – ¥ – ¥ –
Notes and accounts receivable–trade 89,244 – – –
Short-term investment securities and investment securities:

Held-to-maturity debt securities 100 – – –
Available-for-sale securities 19 – – –

Accounts receivable–other 18,633 – – –
Long-term loans receivable, net of allowance of doubtful accounts 37 808 187 –

Total ¥ 120,873 ¥808 ¥187 ¥ –

Thousands of U.S. Dollars (Note 1)

One year or less

More than one 
year, within five 

years

More than five 
years, within 

10 years
More than
10 years

2014
Cash and deposits $  124,728  $   – $   – $ –
Notes and accounts receivable–trade 867,120 – – –
Short-term investment securities and investment securities:

Held-to-maturity debt securities 972 – – –
Available-for-sale securities 185 – – –

Accounts receivable–other 181,044 – – –
Long-term loans receivable, net of allowance of doubtful accounts 360 7,851 1,817 –

Total $ 1,174,436 $7,851 $1,817 $ –

The redemption schedule for monetary claims and securities with maturity dates as of March 31, 2013, are summarized as follows:

Millions of Yen

One year or less

More than one 
year, within five 

years

More than five 
years, within 

10 years
More than
10 years

2013
Cash and deposits ¥ 13,140 ¥ – ¥ – ¥–
Notes and accounts receivable–trade 99,985 – – –
Short-term investment securities and investment securities:

Held-to-maturity debt securities – – – –
Available-for-sale securities – – – –

Accounts receivable–other 11,386 – – –
Long-term loans receivable, net of allowance of doubtful accounts 37 800 193 37

Total ¥124,550 ¥800 ¥193 ¥37
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The following tables summarize carrying value and fair value of held-to-maturity securities with available fair values as of March 

31, 2014:

Millions of Yen Thousands of U.S. Dollars (Note 1)

Carrying 
value

Fair
value Difference

Carrying 
value

Fair
value Difference

2014
Securities with fair value exceeding carrying value:  

Held-to-maturity securities ¥  – ¥  – ¥  – $   – $   – $  –
Securities with fair value not exceeding carrying value:  

Held-to-maturity securities 100 100 – 972 972 –
Total ¥100 ¥100 ¥  – $ 972 $ 972 $  –

There were no balances of held-to-maturity securities at March 31, 2013.

Short-term investment securities and investment securities classified as available-for-sale securities as of March 31, 2014 and 

2013 are set out in the table below.

The following table does not include financial instruments for which it is extremely difficult to determine the fair value.

Millions of Yen Thousands of U.S. Dollars (Note 1)

Acquisition 
cost

Carrying
Value Difference

Acquisition 
cost

Carrying
value Difference

2014
Securities with carrying value exceeding acquisition cost:  

Equity securities ¥1,595 ¥1,717 ¥ 122 $15,497 $16,683 $1,185
Securities with carrying value not exceeding acquisition cost: 

Equity securities 28 25 (3) 272 243 (29)
Other securities 154 154 – 1,496 1,496 –

Total ¥1,779 ¥1,898 ¥ 118 $17,285 $18,442 $1,147

Millions of Yen

Acquisition 
cost

Carrying
value Difference

2013
Securities with carrying value exceeding acquisition cost: 

Equity securities ¥   471 ¥   600 ¥ 129
Securities with carrying value not exceeding acquisition cost: 

Equity securities 1,112 961 (151)
Other securities 134 134 –

Total ¥1,718 ¥1,696 ¥  (22)

There were no available-for-sale securities sold during the years ended March 31, 2014 and 2013.

5. Short-Term Investment Securities and Investment Securities
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Due to problems at offshore production facilities in the Yme Oil 

Field in the Norwegian North Sea, the Company is unable to 

estimate when the production will start. After searching for an 

opportunity to sell its interests, the Company received an offer 

for the shares of NAEDC, which holds the Yme Oil Field 

interests. Consequently, the Company decided to sell all shares.

For the year ended March 31, 2013, the Company has 

recorded an impairment loss of ¥20,129 million on the 

difference between the expected sales amount and NAEDC’s 

asset valuation, as well as in relation to losses on disposal of 

offshore production facilities at the Yme Oil Field. The 

Company recorded this amount as impairment losses and a 

provision for loss on liquidation of subsidiaries and affiliates. 

The Company also recorded the compensation of ¥4,095 

million for the removal of offshore production facilities at the 

Yme Oil Field as Other in Investments and other assets. The 

same amount of estimated costs for the removal is recorded as 

Other in Noncurrent liabilities.

The consolidated subsidiary of the Company, AOC, holds a 

50% interest in the Northwest October Block in the Gulf of 

Suez in Egypt, where it is pursuing development as the block’s 

operator. With regard to this project, given the country’s 

political situation, development progress and AOC’s business 

environment, the Company has recorded an impairment loss of 

¥4,862 million for all expenses related to exploration 

investment that had previously been booked as assets for the 

year ended March 31, 2013.

The Company recorded a loss on impairment of land for the 

year ended March 31, 2013. The Company reviewed fixed 

assets for impairment by grouping assets into income-

generating units. Regarding the land above, as the Company 

does not intend to use this asset in the future and the price of 

the land has been continuously declining, the book value was 

reduced to the recoverable amount.

As a result, a loss in the amount of ¥2 million was recorded 

as losses on impairment of fixed assets under impairment losses 

in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations for 

the year ended March 31, 2013. The recoverable amount of the 

land is assessed based on the appraisal value by an 

independent real estate appraiser.

7. Impairment of Fixed Assets

Accumulated depreciation

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. 

The accumulated depreciation as of March 31, 2014 and 2013 are ¥253,990 million ($2,467,839 thousand) and ¥257,305 million, 

respectively.

Deferred proceeds from national subsidies and insurance claims

Deferred proceeds from national subsidies and insurance claims are directly deducted from the acquisition cost of the related 

machinery, equipment and vehicles in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets as follows:

Millions of Yen

Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars 

(Note 1)

2014 2013 2014
Proceeds from national subsidies ¥453 ¥453 $4,401
Proceeds from insurance claims ¥128 ¥128 $1,244

6. Property, Plant and Equipment
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Short-term loans payable, long-term loans payable, and lease obligations as of March 31, 2014 and 2013 and the weighted 

average interest rates on the loans payable outstanding as of March 31, 2014 are as follows:

Millions of Yen

Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars 

(Note 1)

2014 2013 2014
Short-term loans payable–1.1% ¥146,603 ¥  98,293 $1,424,436
Current portion of long-term loans payable–2.5% 5,980 33,613 58,103
Lease obligation due within one year 22 26 214
Long-term loans payable, maturing in 2015-2023–2.4% 40,792 19,540 396,347
Lease obligation due in 2015-2019 30 52 291

Total ¥193,429 ¥151,527 $1,879,411

Annual maturities of long-term loans payable as of March 31, 2014 are as follows:

Millions of Yen

Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars 

(Note 1)

Year ending March 31, 2014
2015 ¥  5,980 $  58,103
2016 6,138 59,639
2017 11,103 107,880
2018 10,231 99,407
2019 10,758 104,528
2020 and thereafter 2,561 24,883

10. Short-Term Loans Payable, Long-Term Loans Payable, and Lease Obligations

The significant components of selling, general and administrative expenses for the years ended March 31, 2014 and 2013 are as follows:

Millions of Yen

Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars

(Note 1)

2014 2013 2014
Directors’ compensation ¥   483 ¥   452 $  4,693
Provision for directors’ retirement benefits 27 44 262
Salaries and allowances 1,118 1,698 10,863
Provision for retirement benefits – 176 –
Retirement benefit expenses ¥   132 ¥     – $  1,283

8. Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

The significant components of loss on retirement of noncurrent assets for the years ended March 31, 2014 and 2013 are as follows:

Millions of Yen

Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars 

(Note 1)

2014 2013 2014
Machinery, equipment and vehicles, net ¥111 ¥   1 $ 1,079
Construction in progress ¥110 ¥ – $ 1,069

9. Loss on Retirement of Noncurrent Assets
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Annual maturities of long-term loans payable as of March 31, 2013 are as follows:

Millions of Yen

Year ending March 31, 2013
2014 ¥33,613
2015 4,254
2016 4,184
2017 4,449
2018 5,273
2019 and thereafter 1,380

Future lease payments as of March 31, 2014 are as follows:

Millions of Yen

Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars 

(Note 1)

Year ending March 31, 2014
2015 ¥22 $214
2016 17 165
2017 11 107
2018 0 0
2019 – –

Future lease payments as of March 31, 2013 are as follows:

Millions of Yen

Year ending March 31, 2013
2014 ¥26
2015 22
2016 17
2017 11
2018 0

Pledged Assets

The following assets are pledged as collateral for long-term loans payable and other current liabilities amounting to ¥43,373 million 

($421,424 thousand) and ¥49,856 million, including current portion of ¥5,980 million ($58,103 thousand) and ¥32,713 million, as 

of March 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively.

Millions of Yen

Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars 

(Note 1)

2014 2013 2014
Investment securities ¥          – ¥     1,773 $             –
Treasury stock – 1,208 –
Investments and other assets, other 11 – 107
Buildings and structures 10,463 11,010 101,661
Storage tanks 3,090 2,415 30,023
Machinery, equipment and vehicles 30,599 31,907 297,309
Land 49,042 48,952 476,506
Other current assets – 5,172 –

Total carrying value of pledged assets ¥  93,206 ¥ 102,441 $ 905,616
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Income taxes applicable to the Company and its domestic subsidiaries comprise corporation, enterprise, and inhabitants’ taxes 

which, in the aggregate, resulted in a statutory tax rate of 37.8% for the years ended March 31, 2014 and 2013.

The Company and certain domestic subsidiaries adopt a consolidated tax filing system. Income taxes also include foreign income taxes.

The significant components of deferred tax assets and liabilities as of March 31, 2014 and 2013 are as follows:

Millions of Yen

Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars 

(Note 1)

2014 2013 2014
Deferred tax assets:

Tax loss carryforwards ¥  29,168 ¥  32,324 $  283,405
Provision retirement benefits – 1,081 –
Net defined benefit liability 1,144 – 11,115
Provision for repairs 349 1,218 3,391
Provision for special repairs 601 418 5,839
Depreciation 401 428 3,896
Impairment losses 215 4,166 2,089
Other 1,129 4,023 10,970

Subtotal 33,010 43,661 320,735
Valuation allowance (31,975) (27,250) (310,678)

Total deferred tax assets 1,034 16,411 10,047
Deferred tax liabilities:

Valuation difference on assets of consolidated subsidiaries (10,866) (10,470) (105,577)
Undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries (180) (145) (1,749) 
Foreign exchange gains – (1,209) –
Adjustment assets for gains or losses on assets  transfer to intercompany (101) – (981)

Total deferred tax liabilities (11,148) (11,825) (108,317)
Net deferred tax assets (liabilities) ¥(10,114) ¥    4,585 $  (98,271)

The above net deferred tax assets and liabilities are recorded under the following accounts in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets:

Millions of Yen

Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars 

(Note 1)

2014 2013 2014
Current assets–Deferred tax assets ¥      786 ¥     163 $      7,637
Non-current assets–Deferred tax assets 140 13,856 1,360 
Non-current liabilities–Deferred tax liabilities (11,041) (9,433) (107,277)

A reconciliation between the statutory income tax rate and the effective income tax rate as a percentage of loss before income 

taxes and minority interests for the years ended March 31, 2014 and 2013 is as follows:

2014 2013
Statutory income tax rate 37.8% 37.8%

Movement in valuation allowance (43.5) (18.5)
Adjustment on foreign income 0.0 21.3
Equity in earnings of affiliates (0.3) (0.1)
Dividend income 0.5 0.2
Other (3.6)  (0.4)

Effective income tax rate (9.1)% 40.3%

11. Income Taxes
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As of March 31, 2014 and 2013, certain consolidated subsidiaries operate defined benefit corporate pension plan, mutual aid plans 

for small and medium size companies and lump-sum severance plans, which cover substantially all employees who are entitled 

upon retirement to lump-sum or annuity payments, the amounts of which are determined by reference to their basic rate of pay, 

length of service, and the conditions under which termination occurs.

The reconciliation of retirement benefit obligation of beginning and ending balances for the year ended March 31, 2014 

(except for the adoption of a simplified method in computing their retirement benefit obligations as permitted by Japanese 

GAAP) is as follows:

Millions of Yen

Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars 

(Note 1)

2014 2014
Retirement benefit obligation at the beginning of the year ¥5,337 $51,856
Service cost 202 1,963 
Interest cost 68 661 
Actuarial gains and losses arising during the period 27 262 
Defined benefit retirement plans paid (443) (4,304)
Retirement benefit obligation at the end of the year ¥5,193 $50,457

The reconciliation of plan assets of beginning and ending balances for the year ended March 31, 2014 (except for the adoption 

of a simplified method stated above) is as follows:

Millions of Yen

Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars 

(Note 1)

2014 2014
Plan assets at the beginning of the year ¥2,352 $22,853
Expected return on plan assets 37 360 
Actuarial gains and losses arising during the period 254 2,468 
Contribution from employer 157 1,525 
Defined benefit retirement plans paid (164) (1,593)
Plan assets at the end of the year ¥2,637 $25,622

12. Retirement Benefits Plans

Effect of changes in the corporate income tax rate

Following the promulgation of the “Act on the Partial Revision of the income tax” (Act No. 10 of 2014) on March 31, 2014, special 

income tax for reconstruction has been abolished for the fiscal years beginning on or after April 1, 2014. Accordingly, the statutory 

income tax rate used for the calculation of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities has been changed from 37.8% to 35.4% 

for temporary differences expected to be realized or settled in the fiscal years beginning on or after April 1, 2014. The impact of 

this change is immaterial.
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The reconciliation of net defined benefit liability of beginning and ending balances for the year ended March 31, 2014 for 

adoption a simplified method is as follows:

Millions of Yen

Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars 

(Note 1)

2014 2014
Net defined benefit liability at the beginning of the year ¥  35 $   340
Retirement benefit expenses 36 350
Defined benefit retirement plans paid (11) (107)
Other 245 2,380 
Net defined benefit liability at the end of the year ¥305 $2,963

The reconciliation of plan assets, retirement benefit obligation and net defined benefit liability and assets on the consolidated 

balance sheet as of March 31, 2014 (included in the adoption of a simplified method stated above) is as follows:

Millions of Yen

Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars 

(Note 1)

2014 2014
Retirement benefit obligation of funded plans ¥ 2,562 $ 24,893
Plan assets (2,705) (26,283)

(142) (1,380)
Retirement benefit obligation of unfunded plans 3,004 29,188
Net amount of liabilities after deducting assets on the consolidated balance sheets 2,861 27,798
Net defined benefit liability 3,020 29,343
Net defined benefit asset (158) (1,535)
Net amount of liabilities after deducting assets on the consolidated balance sheets ¥ 2,861 $ 27,798

The components of retirement benefit expenses for the year ended March 31, 2014 are as follows:

Millions of Yen

Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars 

(Note 1)

2014 2014
Service cost ¥202 $1,963
Interest cost 68 661
Expected return on plan assets (37) (360)
Amortization of actuarial difference during the year (26) (253)
Amortization of prior service cost during the year 0 0
Retirement benefit expenses which adopted a simplified method 36 350
Retirement benefit expenses related to defined benefit plans ¥245 $2,380

The components of remeasurements of defined benefit plans (before income taxes) for the year ended March 31, 2014 are as 

follows:

Millions of Yen

Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars 

(Note 1)

2014 2014
Unrecognized prior service costs ¥   (4) $    (39)
Unrecognized actuarial gains and losses 228 2,215
Total ¥224 $2,176
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The component ratio of main items included in plan assets for the year ended March 31, 2014 is as follows:

Bonds 26%
Stocks 52%
General accounts 20%
Other 2%
Total 100%

The actuarial assumptions for the year ended March 31, 2014 are as follows:

Discount rate 1.3%
Long-term expected rate of return on plan assets 1.6%

Long-term expected rate of return on plan assets is determined on the basis of the current/future expected distribution of plan 

assets and expected current/future return from various assets that composes plan assets.

The following table sets forth the funded and accrued status of the defined benefit retirement plans and the amounts 

recognized in the consolidated balance sheet as of March 31, 2013:

Millions of Yen

2013
Retirement benefit obligation ¥ (5,432)
Fair value of plan assets 2,412
Unfunded retirement benefit obligation (3,020)
Unrecognized prior service costs 4
Unrecognized actuarial difference 28
Net retirement benefit obligation (3,043)
Prepaid pension expenses 142
Accrued retirement benefits ¥ (3,185)

For the year ended March 31, 2013, three of the consolidated subsidiaries adopted a simplified method in computing their 

retirement benefit obligations as permitted by Japanese GAAP.

The components of retirement benefit expenses for the year ended March 31, 2013 are as follows:

Millions of Yen

2013
Service cost ¥251
Interest cost 70
Expected return on plan assets (32)
Amortization of prior service cost 0
Amortization of actuarial difference 40
Other 94

Total ¥425

Retirement benefit expenses of the consolidated subsidiaries adopting the simplified method are included in service cost. The 

assumptions used in accounting for the plan not accounted for by the simplified method for the year ended March 31, 2013 are as 

follows:

Discount rate 1.3%
Expected rate of return on plan assets 1.6%
Amortization period for unrealized actuarial gain or loss 10 years
Amortization period for prior service costs 10 years
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As a creditor:

AOC had entered into a loan commitment agreement with KGOC regarding capital expenditure for oil and natural gas operation 

in the Kuwaiti - Saudi Arabia Offshore Divided Zone. As of March 31, 2014, the commitment agreements were expired. The 

outstanding balance of the loan commitment as of March 31, 2013 is as follows:

Millions of Yen

2013
Total commitments available ¥70,537
Amount utilized 70,537
Balance available ¥       –

As a debtor:

AOC had entered into loan commitment agreements with eight banks aggregating ¥70,537 million as of March 31, 2013 to cover 

the loan commitments granted to KGOC as noted above.

In addition, the Company entered into loan commitment agreements with ten banks aggregating ¥49,000 million ($476,098 

thousand), ¥34,000 million ($330,354 thousand) of which is restricted to the import usance loans payable, and ¥49,000 million, 

¥34,000 million of which is restricted to the import usance loans payable, as of March 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively, to finance 

working capital requirements. The outstanding balance of such loan commitments as of March 31, 2014 and 2013 is as follows:

Millions of Yen

Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars 

(Note 1)

2014 2013 2014
Total commitments available ¥49,000 ¥119,537 $476,098
Amount utilized 33,313 88,345 323,679
Balance available ¥15,686 ¥  31,191 $152,410

14. Loan Commitment Agreement

Under the Japanese Corporate Law (the “Law”) and related 

regulations, the entire amount paid for new shares is required 

to be designated as common stock. However, a company 

may, by a resolution of the Board of Directors, designate an 

amount not exceeding one-half of the price of the new 

shares as additional paid-in capital, which is included in 

capital surplus.

Under the Law, in cases where a dividend distribution of 

surplus is made, the lesser of an amount equal to 10% of the 

dividend or the excess, if any, of 25% of capital stock over 

the total of additional paid-in capital and legal earnings 

reserve must be set aside as additional paid-in capital or legal 

earnings reserve. Legal earnings reserve is included in 

retained earnings in the accompanying consolidated balance 

sheets.

Additional paid-in capital and legal earnings reserve may 

not be distributed as dividends. However, all additional paid-

in capital and legal earnings reserve may be transferred to 

other capital surplus and retained earnings, respectively, 

which are potentially available for dividends.

The maximum amount that the Company can distribute as 

dividends is calculated based on the non-consolidated 

financial statements of the Company in accordance with the 

Law.

Treasury stock

The number of treasury stock owned by the Companies as of 

March 31, 2014 and 2013 were 1,121,076 and 966,076 

common stock shares, respectively. Due to the scope of 

consolidation change as of March 31, 2014, the number of 

treasury stock increased by 155,000 common stock shares.

13. Net Assets
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The Companies had the following guarantees of liabilities as of March 31, 2014 and 2013.

Millions of Yen

Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars 

(Note 1)

2014 2013 2014
Employees (for home purchase):

Indebtedness to financial institutions ¥  51 ¥  68 $   496
Japan Biofuels Supply LLP:

Guarantee of obligations related to overdraft facility 376 374 3,653
Guarantee of obligations related to deferred payment of consumption taxes on imports 44 44 428
Guarantee of obligations related to letter of credit agreements 365 197 3,546

15. Contingent Liabilities

Reconciliation of “Cash and cash equivalents” in the consolidated statements of cash flows and “Cash and deposits” in the 

consolidated balance sheets as of March 31, 2014 and 2013 is as follows:

Millions of Yen

Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars 

(Note 1)

2014 2013 2014
Cash and deposits ¥12,837 ¥13,140 $124,728
Short-term investment securities 254 134 2,468

Subtotal 13,092 13,274 127,206
Time deposits maturing over three months (371) (10) (3,605)
Debt securities maturing over three months (19) – (184)

Cash and cash equivalents ¥12,701 ¥13,264 $123,407

Assets and liabilities of the subsidiary which became non-consolidated subsidiary due to sales of the shares are as follows:

Name of subsidiary: Norske AEDC AS

Millions of Yen

Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars 

(Note 1)

2014 2014
Current assets ¥     678 $    6,588 
Fixed assets 20,310 197,338
Total assets 20,988 203,925
Current liabilities 304 2,954
Fixed liabilities 4,614 44,831
Total liabilities ¥  4,919 $  47,794 

16. Cash Flow Information
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Asset retirement obligations shown in the consolidated balance sheets

The Companies own buildings that contain asbestos in their building materials. As the removal of such buildings obliges the 

Companies to dispose of this asbestos, this obligation is recorded as asset retirement obligations in accordance with relevant laws 

and statutes.

Furthermore, the Companies own certain Service Station (“SS”) equipment that is located at sites used under real estate leasing 

agreements. As the removal of such SS equipment involves obligations to return land and structures to their original condition, 

asset retirement obligations are recorded in accordance with these agreements.

The Companies own electrical equipment that contains trace amounts of PCB. The disposal of such equipment involves the 

obligation to dispose of PCB-containing materials. The rational estimate of asset retirement obligations when the electrical 

equipment is disposed of can be made since the consolidated fiscal year ended March 31, 2014. Consequently, the Companies 

added the discounted amount of asset retirement benefit obligations of ¥11 million ($107 thousand) as Increase due to changes in 

accounting estimates.

Changes in total asset retirement obligations during the consolidated fiscal years ended March 31, 2014 and 2013 are as follows:

Millions of Yen

Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars 

(Note 1)

2014 2013 2014
Balance at the beginning of the year ¥104 ¥102 $1,010
Elapsed time adjustment 2 2 19
Increase due to changes in accounting estimates 11 – 107
Balance at the end of the year ¥118 ¥104 $1,147

18. Asset Retirement Obligations

Yen
U.S. Dollars

(Note 1)

2014 2013 2014
Net assets per share ¥  974.70 ¥1,049.46 $   9.47
Basic net (loss) income per share (154.39) (168.69) (1.5)
Cash dividends per share attributable to the year 5.00 6.00 0.049

Net assets per share is computed based on the net assets available for distribution to the shareholders of capital stock and the 

number of shares of capital stock outstanding at the year-end.

Basic net income and loss per share are computed based on the net income available for distribution and loss attributable to 

shareholders of capital stock and the weighted average number of shares of capital stock outstanding during the year. Diluted net 

income per share has been omitted because no potentially dilutive instruments were outstanding during the years ended March 

31, 2014 and 2013.

Cash dividends per share represent the cash dividends declared as applicable to the respective years, including dividends to be 

paid after the end of the year and not accrued in the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

17. Per Share Data
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Each component of other comprehensive income for the year ended March 31, 2014 and 2013 is the following:

Millions of Yen

Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars

(Note 1)

2014 2013 2014
Valuation difference on available-for-sale securities:

Amount arising during the year ¥   181 ¥   44 $   1,759
Reclassification adjustments – – –
Amount before income tax effect 181 44 1,759
Income tax effect (42) (2) (408)
Total 138 41 1,341

Deferred gains or losses on hedges:
Amount arising during the year 0 – 0
Reclassification adjustments (0) – (0)
Amount before income tax effect 0 – 0
Income tax effect (0) – (0)
Total 0 – 0

Foreign currency translation adjustments:
Amount arising during the year 283 (917) 2,750
Reclassification adjustments 2,248 – 21,842
Amount before income tax effect 2,531 (917) 24,592
Income tax effect 0 – 0
Total 2,531 (917) 24,592

Share of other comprehensive income of associates accounted for using equity method:  
   Amount arising during the year 1,500 724 14,574

Total other comprehensive income ¥4,171 ¥ (150) $ 40,527

19. Comprehensive Income

Disclosure of segment information is omitted for the year ended March 31, 2014 because the Company has one single segment. 

(1) Change in segment classification

Since April 1, 2013, the Companies have changed to a single reporting segment from previously two reporting segments which 

include the upstream business of oil/gas development and sales and the downstream business of oil refinery and sale. The 

change is based on the business reconstruction which includes: sales of consolidated subsidiary which reporting segment was 

oil/gas development and sales and the Company merged the former Fuji Oil which had been a wholly owned subsidiary as of 

October 1, 2013. As a result of the business reconstruction, scale of operation and business results of oil/gas development and 

sales has become relatively minor.

20. Segment Information

Asset retirement obligations other than those shown in the consolidated balance sheets

The Companies own pipework that contains asbestos. The disposal of such pipework involves the obligation to dispose of 

asbestos. As conducting an investigation into the pipework could have a significant disruption on facility operation and on loading 

and unloading during sales operations, the Companies have difficulty to perform such investigation. Therefore, no rational 

estimate can be provided for these asset retirement obligations. Consequently, no corresponding obligation is included within 

asset retirement obligations.
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(2) Overview of reporting segments for the year ended March 31, 2013

The Companies’ reporting segments were composed of those individual business units for which separate financial information 

was available, based on which the Board of Directors made decisions regarding the allocation of management resources and 

for which operating performance could be evaluated, allowing them to be examined periodically.

The Companies had two reporting segments: the upstream business of oil/gas development and sales, which was conducted 

chiefly by the Arabian Oil Company, Ltd., and the downstream business of oil refinery and sales, which was conducted chiefly 

by the former Fuji Oil.

The oil/gas development and sales business primarily involved the exploration, development, production, and sale of crude 

oil and natural gas, while the oil refinery and sales business primarily involved the transportation, refining and sale of petroleum 

products.

(3)  Methods of calculating sales, profit or loss, assets, liabilities and other items by reporting segment as of and for the year ended 

March 31, 2013

Methods of accounting for reported business segments were in principal the same as those indicated in Note 2 “Summary of 

Significant Accounting Policies.” Profit or loss of reporting segments was based on ordinary income (loss). Ordinary income (loss) 

was calculated by adding net extraordinary loss of ¥25,049 million for the year ended March 31, 2013, to (loss) income before 

income taxes and minority interests. Profit or loss between segments and transfer amounts were based on market prices.

(4)  Sales, profit (loss), assets, liabilities and other items by reporting segment as of and for the year ended March 31, 2013 are 

summarized as follows:

Millions of Yen

Oil/gas 
development 

and sales
Oil refinery and 

sales Total Adjustments Consolidated

2013
Sales:

Sales to third parties ¥113,012 ¥667,016 ¥780,028 ¥    – ¥780,028
Intersegment sales – – – – –
Total sales 113,012 667,016 780,028 – 780,028

Segment profit ¥  3,013 ¥    252 ¥  3,266 ¥   11 ¥  3,277
Segment assets ¥ 38,267 ¥322,927 ¥361,195 ¥  (304) ¥360,891
Segment liabilities ¥ 19,405 ¥268,683 ¥288,089 ¥(8,315) ¥279,774

Other:
Depreciation and amortization 271 9,495 9,766 37 9,804
Interest income 65 20 85 0 85
Interest expenses 95 2,800 2,896 (48) 2,847
Equity in earnings (losses) of affiliates 94 (176) (82) – (82)
Impairment losses (22,884) (2) (22,887) – (22,887)
Investments in equity method affiliates 1,354 7,012 8,366 – 8,366
Increase in property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 1,630 1,969 3,599 – 3,599
Other, net (2,687) 524 (2,163) 0 (2,162)

Notes: 1. The adjustment on segment profit (loss) of ¥11 million includes elimination of intersegment transactions.
 2.  The adjustment on segment assets of ¥304 million consists of elimination of intersegment transactions of ¥-2,165 million and the Company’s assets of 

¥1,861 million.
 3.  The adjustment on segment liabilities of ¥-8,315 million consists of elimination of intersegment transactions of ¥-8,409 million and the Company’s 

liabilities of ¥94 million.
 4. The adjustment on depreciation and amortization of ¥37 million is related to the Company’s assets.
 5. The adjustment on other, net is related to the Company’s assets.
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(5) Related information

(a) Information on Sales by products

Since Sales amount of single product attributable to the external customer account for more than 90% of Sales in consolidated 

statements of operations, disclosure of Sales by products for the year ended March 31, 2014 has been omitted.

Sales by products for the year ended March 31, 2013 is as follows:

Millions of Yen

2013
Petroleum products ¥659,665
Crude oil and natural gas 112,797
Other 7,566

Total ¥780,028

(b) Geographic information

Since the Sales and property, plant and equipment attributable to the “Japan” segment account for more than 90% of the total 

of all geographic segments, geographical segment information has not been presented for the year ended March 31, 2014.

Sales and property, plant and equipment by geographical areas as of and for the year ended March 31, 2013 are as follows:

Millions of Yen

Japan Asia Europe Other Total

2013
Sales ¥763,982 ¥13,438 ¥  367 ¥2,239 ¥780,028
Property, plant and equipment 97,991 – 2,333 – 100,325

(c) Sales to major customers

Sales to major customers for the years ended March 31, 2014 and 2013 are as follows:

Millions of Yen

Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars 

(Note 1)

Name of customer Related segments 2014 2013 2014

Showa Shell Sekiyu K.K. Oil/gas development and sales,  
Oil refinery and sales ¥395,535 ¥453,525 $3,843,131

Tokyo Electric Power Company, 
Incorporated

Oil refinery and sales 
– 86,392 –

(6) Information of impairment losses on fixed assets by reporting segment 

Information of impairment losses on fixed assets by reporting segment for the year ended March 31, 2014 has been omitted 

since the Company has one single segment.

Information of impairment losses on fixed assets by reporting segment for the year ended March 31, 2013 is as follows:

Millions of Yen

2013
Oil/gas development and sales ¥22,884
Oil refinery and sales 2

Total ¥22,887
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The following are the Company’s transactions with its related parties for the years ended March 31, 2014 and 2013.
For the year ended March 31, 2014

Name Relationship Transaction type Transaction amount Account Balance at year-end

Shigeya 
Kato

A director of the Company 
and the representative 
chairman and group CEO of 
Showa Shell Sekiyu K.K.

Sale of crude oil and 
products

¥395,535 million
($3,843,131 thousand)

Accounts 
receivable–trade

¥55,203 million
($536,368 thousand)

Accommodation of 
crude oil

¥66,077 million
($642,023 thousand)

Accounts 
receivable–other

¥6,033 million
($58,618 thousand) 

Purchase of crude oil 
and products

¥175,440 million
($1,704,625 thousand) 

Accounts 
payable–trade

¥17,740 million
($172,367 thousand) 

Osamu
Ishitobi

A director of the Company 
and the vice chairman and 
CEO of Sumitomo Chemical 
Company, Limited

Sale of petrochemical 
products

¥39,016 million
($379,091 thousand)

Accounts 
receivable–trade

¥5,325 million
($51,739 thousand)

For the year ended March 31, 2013

Name Relationship Transaction type Transaction amount Account Balance at year-end

Shigeya
Kato

A director of the Company 
and the representative 
chairman and group CEO of 
Showa Shell Sekiyu K.K.

Sale of crude oil and 
products ¥453,525 million Accounts 

receivable–trade ¥52,241 million

Purchase of crude oil 
and products ¥331,966 million Accounts 

payable–trade ¥21,071 million

Osamu
Ishitobi

A director of the Company 
and the vice chairman of 
Sumitomo Chemical 
Company, Limited

Sale of petrochemical 
products ¥39,217 million Accounts 

receivable–trade ¥4,129 million

Notes: 1. The transaction amounts are exclusive of consumption tax, while the balances at year-end are inclusive of consumption tax.
 2. Basis of transactions 
      The selling and purchase price of crude oil and petroleum products is determined based on usual general business terms in consideration of market 

prices. The price of crude oil accommodated is determined based on market prices.
 3.  The transactions with Shigeya Kato, a director of the Company, represent the transactions between the Company and Showa Shell Sekiyu K. K. of 

which Shigeya Kato is the representative chairman.
 4.  The transactions with Osamu Ishitobi, a director of the Company, represent the transactions between the Company and Sumitomo Chemical Company, 

Limited of which Osamu Ishitobi is the vice chairman.

21. Related Party Transactions

(1) Sales of shares in JX Nippon Oil & Gas Exploration Technical Services Corporation 

  On April 1, 2013, AOC, a consolidated subsidiary of the Company, established JX Nippon Oil & Gas Exploration Technical 

Services Corporation (“JXTS”) as a wholly owned subsidiary through an incorporation-type company split. All outstanding 

shares in this new company were transferred to JX Nippon Oil & Gas Exploration Corporation (“JX NIPPON”). This transfer was 

based on the Board of Directors meeting held on December 27, 2012 and a share transfer agreement entered on the same day. 

 (a) Outline of the business divestiture

  (i) The entity which succeeds the divested business

   JX Nippon Oil & Gas Exploration Corporation 

  (ii) Details of the divested business

   Oil/Gas Development and Sales

  (iii) Purpose of the business divestiture

    AOC transferred all shares in JXTS to JX NIPPON to leverage the experience and technologies it has built up in the oil 

development business. 

22. Business Combinations
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  (iv) Date of the business divestiture

   April 1, 2013

  (v) Other transaction outline including legal form

    AOC established a wholly owned subsidiary through an incorporation-type company split and received only assets such 

as cash as consideration for the transfer of shares.

 (b) Summary of accounting treatments

  (i) Amount of gain or loss on the transfer 

   Gain on transfer of business   ¥200 million ($1,943 thousand)

  (ii) Accounting treatments

    Difference between the consolidated book value of the shares and the amount received as a value of transferred business 

was recognized as gain on transfer of business in the consolidated statement of operations.

 (c) Reporting segment which included the divested business

  Oil/Gas Development and Sales

 (d) Profit or loss generated from the divested business and included in the consolidated statement of operations

   The consolidated statement of operations for the year ended March 31, 2014 does not include any profit or loss generated 

from the divested business since the date of the business divestiture is deemed at the beginning of the fiscal year.

(2) Sales of shares in Norske AEDC AS

  On April 30, 2013, AOC, a consolidated subsidiary of the Company, reached an agreement with KUFPEC, a subsidiary of Kuwait 

Petroleum Corporation, to transfer all shares in Norske AEDC AS (“NAEDC”), a wholly owned subsidiary of AOC, to a wholly 

owned subsidiary of KUFPEC. 

 (a) Outline of the business divestiture

  (i) The entity which succeeds the divested business

   KUFPEC UK Ltd.

  (ii) Details of the divested business

   Oil/Gas Development and Sales

  (iii) Purpose of the business divestiture

    Aiming for business reconstruction with high possibility of withdrawal from the oil developing business, AOC decided to 

sell all shares of NAEDC, which is qualified to pursue oilfield development in the region Norwegian North Sea.

  (iv) Date of business divestiture

   April 1, 2013

  (v) Other transaction outline including legal form

   AOC received only assets such as cash as consideration for the transfer of shares.

 (b) Summary of accounting treatments

  (i) Amount of gain or loss on the transfer 

   Not applicable
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 (ii) Appropriate book values and components for assets and liabilities regarding the divested business 

Millions of Yen

Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars 

(Note 1)

2014
Current assets ¥     678 $   6,588 
Fixed assets 20,310 197,338
Total assets 20,988 203,925
Current liabilities 304 2,954
Fixed liabilities 4,614 44,831
Total liabilities ¥  4,919 $ 47,794 

 (c) Reporting segment which included the divested business

  Oil/Gas Development and Sales

 (d) Profit or loss generated from the divested business and included in the consolidated statement of operations

   The consolidated statement of operations for the year ended March 31, 2014 does not include any profit or loss generated 

from the divested business since the date of the business divestiture is deemed at the beginning of the fiscal year.

(3) Merger with former Fuji Oil Company

  On October 1, 2013, the Company merged with its wholly owned subsidiary, former Fuji Oil Company, Ltd. and changed its 

company name under the conditions the merger became effective on the same date, and revised its articles of incorporation in 

accordance with the resolution by Board of Directors meeting held on May 30, 2013.

 Outline of the merger is as follows. 

 (a) Objective of the merger

   The Company was established on January 31, 2003, as a pure holding company of former Fuji Oil Company, Ltd. and AOC. 

Since that time, AOC has focused on restructuring the oil development business, but having judged that expanding and 

developing this business within the group would be difficult amid the major changes taking place in the business 

environment, the group has decided to effectively withdraw from the upstream oil business and restructure itself as a group 

concentrated on downstream oil operations. 

Under these conditions, as the core business entity for the group, the Company itself will take the lead in restructuring 

the group, centered on the downstream oil business handled by former Fuji Oil Company, Ltd. The Company has decided to 

undergo a merger with former Fuji Oil Company, Ltd. in order to strengthen its operating structure, pursue the rapid 

allocation of management resources, further reduce costs, and optimize operational efficiency and rationalization.

 (b) Summary of the merger

  (i) Merger schedule

   Board of Directors resolution for the merger May 30, 2013

   Merger agreement May 30, 2013

   Effective date of merger  October 1, 2013

  Notes:  For the Company, this merger was to be conducted as a simple merger that does not require approval of the merger agreement at the general 
meeting of shareholders, as prescribed in Article 796-3 of the Law. For former Fuji Oil Company, Ltd., the merger is to be conducted as a 
short-form merger that does not require approval of the merger agreement at the general meeting of shareholders, as prescribed in Article 
784-1 of the Law. 
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  (ii) Merger method

    An absorption-type merger method was employed, with the Company as the surviving company and former Fuji Oil 

Company, Ltd. as the absorbed company. Former Fuji Oil Company, Ltd. was liquidated.

  (iii) Allocations related to the merger

    As the Company held all outstanding shares in former Fuji Oil Company, Ltd., there was no allotment of shares in the 

Company or delivery of money in relation to the merger.

  (iv) Handling of share options and bonds with share options in relation to the merger

   Former Fuji Oil Company, Ltd. did not issue share options or bonds with share options.

 (c) Overview of the merging businesses as of March 31, 2013

Absorption-type merger surviving company Absorption-type merger absorbed company

Name of the company AOC Holdings, Inc. (former) Fuji Oil Company, Ltd.

Head office 5-8, Higashishinagawa 2-chome, Shinagawa-
ku, Tokyo

5-8, Higashishinagawa 2-chome, Shinagawa-
ku, Tokyo

President Fumio Sekiya Fumio Sekiya

Business Holding of shares in and the management 
administration of companies involved in the 
exploration, development, production and sale 
of oil, natural gas and other mineral resources, 
and in businesses related to the refining, 
storage, sales and purchasing, and import and 
export of petroleum, as well as the pursuit of 
these businesses

Refining, storage, sales and purchasing, and 
import and export of petroleum

Paid-in capital ¥24,467 million ¥10,225 million

Date of establishment January 31, 2003 April 17, 1964

Number of shares issued 78,183,677 20,450,000

Fiscal year end March 31 March 31

Sales for the year ended 
March 31, 2013 ¥780,028 million ¥645,233 million

Net (loss) income for the 
year ended March 31, 2013 ¥-13,025 million ¥1,866 million

Net assets ¥81,116 million ¥72,674 million

Total assets ¥360,891 million ¥350,249 million 

 (d) Post-merger status

   In line with this merger, the Company’s name was changed to Fuji Oil Company, Ltd., as of October 1, 2013. As the 

Company transitioned from a pure holding company to an operating company in accordance with the merger, the Company 

also changed the Company’s business objectives, effective October 1, 2013 as follows:

Previous Current

Article 2. (Purpose)
The Company is to manage domestic and foreign companies, 
whose businesses are the below listed undertakings, by 
owning those companies’ shares:

Article 2. (Purpose)
The Company is to carry on the below listed undertakings:
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Quarterly financial data for the year ended March 31, 2014 

Millions of Yen Yen

Net sales
Loss before 

income taxes and 
minority interests

Net loss
Net loss 

per share

Three months ended June 30, 2013 ¥128,651 ¥   (3,233) ¥   (3,273) ¥   (42.48)
Six months ended September 30, 2013 321,628 (6,826) (6,711) (87.09)
Nine months ended December 31, 2013 510,326 (7,242) (7,528) (97.70)
Twelve months ended March 31, 2014 702,942 (10,886) (11,897) (154.39)

Thousands of U.S. Dollars (Note 1) U.S. Dollars 
(Note 1)

Net sales
Loss before 

income taxes and 
minority interests

Net loss
Net loss per 

share

Three months ended June 30, 2013 $1,250,010 $  (31,413) $  (31,801) $(0.41)
Six months ended September 30, 2013 3,125,029 (66,323) (65,206) (0.85)
Nine months ended December 31, 2013 4,958,473 (70,365) (73,144) (0.95)
Twelve months ended March 31, 2014 6,829,984 (105,771) (115,595) (1.50)

Due to the scope of consolidation change as of March 31, 2014, the number of treasury stock increased by 155,000 common 

stock shares.

Net loss per share in the table above was calculated, assuming the scope of consolidation was changed at the beginning of the 

fiscal year.

23. Quarterly Information

 (e) Summary of accounting treatments

   This merger was treated as a business combination involving entities or businesses under common control, based on 

“Accounting Standard for Business Combinations” (ASBJ Statement No.21 issued on December 26, 2008) and “Guidance 

on Accounting Standard for Business Combinations and Accounting Standard for Business Divestitures” (ASBJ Guidance No. 

10 issued on December 26, 2008).
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As a comprehensive energy-focused group, the Fuji 

O i l  G roup (the  G roup)  se ek s  to  fu l f i l l  i t s 

re sp ons ib i l i t i e s  a s  a  corp orate  c i t i zen  by 

contributing to the future affluence of society and 

the rea l izat ion of  a  safe and comfor tab le 

environment. Based on this mission, the Group 

provides a stable supply of energy products,  

which are indispensable to people’s daily lives and 

industrial activities.

Profile

This annual repor t contains forward- looking 
statements that reflect FOC and its consolidated 
subsidiaries’ forecast, targets, plans, and strategies. 
T h e s e  fo r ward - lo o k in g s t a te m e nt s  a re  n o t 
guarantees of future performance and involve 
known and unknown risks, uncertainties, and various 
other factors that may cause FOC’s actual results, 
performance, achievements, or financial position to 
be materially different from any future results, 
performance, achievements, or financial position 
expressed or implied by these forward-looking 
statements.

Cautionary Statement with Respect to Forward-

Looking Statements
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Shareholder Information

Number of Shares Authorized: 200,000,000 shares
Number of Shares Issued: 78,183,677 shares
Number of Shareholders: 12,584

Principal Shareholders

Name Number of shares held
(thousands)

Percentage of total shares 
outstanding (%)

The Tokyo Electric Power Company, Incorporated 6,839.9 8.74

BBH for Fidelity Low-Priced Stock Fund 5,899.0 7.54

Kuwait Petroleum Corporation 5,811.3 7.43

Government of the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia 5,811.3 7.43

Showa Shell Sekiyu K. K. 5,144.0 6.57

Sumitomo Chemical Company, Limited 5,051.6 6.46

Japan Trustee Services Bank, Ltd. (Trust Account) 3,453.4 4.41

Nippon Yusen Kabushiki Kaisha 2,750.8 3.51

The Master Trust Bank of Japan, Ltd. (Trust Account) 1,712.5 2.19

JX Holdings, Inc. 1,350.0 1.72

Total 43,824.0 56.05

Composition of Shareholders by Type

Financial institutions
18.47% (14,439,000 shares)

Financial instruments business operators
2.27% (1,770,904 shares)

Other domestic companies
36.52% (28,554,680 shares)

International companies, etc.
29.62% (23,160,051 shares)

Individuals, treasury shares and other domestic investors
13.12% (10,259,042 shares)

Corporate Data

Trade Name Fuji Oil Company, Ltd.
Date of Establishment January 31, 2003
Head Office Tennozu Parkside Building

5-8, Higashishinagawa 2-chome,
Shinagawa-ku, Tokyo 140-0002, Japan
TEL: 81-3-5462-7761 FAX: 81-3-5462-7815

Paid-in Capital ¥24,467 million
Fiscal Year-End March 31
Employees Non-consolidated: 417

Consolidated: 643
Principal Business Import of crude oil, refining of oil and production, 

processing, storage, export and sales of petroleum products 
and petrochemical feedstock

Tennozu Parkside Building

Investor Information (As of March 31, 2014)



Fuji Oil Company, Ltd.

Tennozu Parkside Building
5-8, Higashishinagawa 2-chome,
Shinagawa-ku, Tokyo 140-0002, Japan
TEL : 81-3-5462-7761
FAX : 81-3-5462-7815
http://www.foc.co.jp/en/

Annual Report  2014
April 1, 2013 – March 31, 2014

Fuji Oil Company, Ltd.

R E L I A B I L I T Y  I N  E N E R G Y  S U P P LY


